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On May 4, 2016, Synacor announced that it resiged a three-year contract to host web
and mobile (“portal”) services for AT&T. Prito retaining Synacor, AT&T had partnered with
Yahoo to provide similar services. Analys&imated that Yahoo's contract with AT&T
generated $100 million annually for Yahoo.

B. Events During the Class Period

The Complaint alleges that, from MayZ8)16, to March 15, 2018, (the “Class Period”),
Defendants made material misstatements andsioms about Synacor’s projected revenue from
the AT&T contract; AT&T'’s control over genating revenue from (fhonetizing”) the portal;
and Synacor’s weaknesses in inte@itrols over financial reporting.

Synacor’s annual revenue when it enteréd the contract with AT&T was around $100
million. After partnering with AT&T, Defadants announced their goal of achieving $100
million in revenue after full deployment of tpertal in 2017 and $300 million in annual revenue
by 2019. On May 5, 2016, the day after Synacor announced its partnership and revenue
projections, Synacor’s stock pricecreased 158% to $3.64 per share.

On April 5, 2017, Synacor announced a secongabyic offering of its common stock.
Synacor completed the secondary offedmgApril 11, 2017, netting approximately $18.5
million.

On August 9, 2017, during the Q2 2017 earnicagl Bhise announced that AT&T and
Synacor had decided to prioritize “engagetm@/er monetization” and revised their 2017
financial projection from $170-$160 million to $150-$140 million. Following this statement,
Synacor’s share price fell 32.39% and eldsit $2.40 per share on August 10, 2017.

On a March 15, 2018, Q4 2017 earnings call, Bhise stated that AT&T had chosen to

prioritize consumer experience and engagemather than fully monetize the portal through
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search and advertising. Bhise announced th&017, Synacor had gerated approximately
$25 million in revenue from AT&T, which wasgnificantly “below the $100 million annual
revenue target that AT&T and Synacor announaéaén they first discussed their contract and
which was a “critical element of Synacor’s $30Mlion target.” During the same call, Stuart
disclosed material weaknesses in Synacot&rimal controls over financial reporting.

C. Events After the Class Period

Following the March 15, 2018, earnings c&8§nacor’s share price fell 14.63% and
closed at $1.75 per share on March 16, 2028.August 30, 2018, Synacor filed a Form 8-K
with the SEC stating that on August 24, 2018, AT&ad delivered a notice of non-renewal to
Synacor to prevent automaticeval of the contract.

D. The Alleged Material Omissions and Misrepresentations

The Complaint alleges material omissi@m&l misstatements made during the Class
Period in violation of § 10(b) of the Exchanget and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, 17
C.F.R. 8 240.10b-5. The Complaint’s allegatiohsnaterial omissionand misstatements fall
into three categories. The first category &eshents relating to renae projections resulting
from Synacor’s contract with AT&T. The sewbcategory concerns statements and omissions
about AT&T’s control over morizing the portal and the impach Synacor’s revenues. The
third category relates to Synacor’s failure teatthse weaknesses in the company’s internal
controls for financial reporting.

1. Financial Projections

The first category of alleged misstatemeasdacerns Synacor’s financial projections

relating to its contract witAT&T. After Synacor announced ifartnership with AT&T on May

4, 2016, Defendants repeatedly stated, from tp@rsy of the contradh May through August
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2016, that Synacor expected revenues fronAIR&T contract of around $100 million per year
beginning in 2017, and revenues of $300 million by 20®ese statements were made in press
releases filed with the SEC and ithgy conference calls with investorsThe Q1 2016 Form 10-
Q stated that revenue from the AT&T contraeill account for a sultantial portion” of 2017
revenue. The Q2 2016 Form 10-Q stated, “We amtieithat search acily and search revenue
will increase” due to the AT&T contract.

On November 14, 2016, Synacor announced dutsnipird quarter eaings conference
call that it was pushing back the official labnaf the AT&T desktop and mobile web portal
from Q4 2016 to the first half of 2017 and tHatir contract with ART remained “on track
with expected full-year revenue of $100 millioneafdeployment is complete.” Synacor also
filed a press releaseitiv the SEC announcing the Companfyreancial results for the third
guarter and stating that they mg€'on track to deliver on [theérget of $300 million in revenue
and $30 million in adjusted EBITDA in 2019.” Bhisaid during the conference call that he did
not expect the delayed launch of the portal tpaot the amount of anticipated revenues but
suggested that the “$100 million run rate” migbt be achieved until the end of 2017. The Q3
2016 10-Q reiterated Bhise’s statsms that Synacdanticipate[s] thafctivity and search
revenue will increase in the future due to ourehyear portal services coatt with AT&T.”

On March 15, 2017, in connection with Q#da2016 year-end financial results, Synacor

filed a press release with the SEtating “we continue to malkexcellent progress toward the

! The Complaint alleges that these statements wade a May 4 press release attached to a
Form 8-K filed with the SEC; a May 4 article in théall Street Journadjuoting Bhise; a
statement by Bhise during a May 5 conference citi imvestors; a writte presentation for the
May 5 conference call; a May 10 press reledtselaed to a Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
May 11; the 2016 Q1 earnings call on May 1@ress release filedith the SEC; and a
conference call on August 3 in connection with its 2016 Q2 earnings.
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launch and deployment of the AT&T portal . . . . Bgect accelerated revenue growth of about
30% this year, as we continue to progress orPatin to 3/30/300.” On the earnings call the
same day, Stuart stated that Synacor “reredinn track with expected revenue of $100 million
per year after full deployment.” On the samd, @&lhise stated, “We continue to make excellent
progress with the ATT.net transition . . . . Véenain on track to launch the new AT&T desktop
and mobile web portal in the first half of thisar and deployment will be completed through
2017.” In response to a question as to hgwasor would achieve $300 million in revenue in
2019, Bhise stated, “[WI]ith the 30% growth ratetngear, we're looking atoughly 30% to 35%
annual growth rate in the following two yeargytet to our $300 million target . . . starting in
2018, we’ll see the full benefit afie AT&T portal revenue.”

On May 10, 2017, in a press release Synacat ¥ilkh the SEC in connection with its Q1
2017 financial results, Bhise said, “We remaiell positioned to deliver on our target of $300
million in revenue and $30 million in adjuste@ITDA in 2019.” Bhise also repeated his
estimate that annual revenue for 2017 “is propttdebe in the range of $160 million to $170
million.” In its Form 10Q filed with te SEC on May 15, 2017, with its Q1 2017 financial
results, Synacor stated, “we anticipate thahtsearch and digital advertising activity and
revenue will increase substantially in futapgarters due to our three-year portal services
contract with AT&T.”

On the August 9, 2017, Q2 2017 earnings calis&mformed investors that the joint
AT&T and Syancor team had decided to ptine user engagemeaver monetization, pushing
the “ramp-up in revenues” from the second lo&l2017 to 2018. He stated that “we remain
committed to and we anticipate delivering on 8(80/300 plan $300 million of revenue . . . in

2019” and that “the site has the potentialedach $100 million of [annuafevenue.” Stuart
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provided new projections of $35 to $40 nailirevenue for Q3 2017, and $140 to $150 revenue
for the full year 2017. The same day, Synacodfderess release withe SEC with the same
information. In its Q2 2017 Form 10-Q, thengmany repeated, “We anipate that both search
and digital advertising activity arrdvenue will increase substartigan future quarters” due to
the AT&T contract.

On November 14, 2017, during Synacor'sZpd7 earnings call, Bhise stated, “3/30/300
still remains our goal . . . AT&T still has thetpatial to be $100 million opportunity.” The Q3
2017 Form 10-Q stated, “We expect that bothdeand digital advertisg activity and revenue
will increase in future quarters due to our three-year portal services contract with AT&T.”

2. Control Over Monetization

The second category of alleged misstatementsrmgsions concerns Synacor’s failure to
disclose AT&T's control over monetization.

On August 15, 2016, Synacor filed its Form 1Qvith the SEC for Q2 2017 and attached
a redacted version of the AT&T contractlaeting almost all of the terms regarding
monetization of the portal. The Complaint allegeat the redacted portions contained material
omissions that AT&T, not Synacacontrolled monetization of éhportal. The Complaint also
alleges that, even if the contract providedjoint control, “AT&T effectively controlled
monetization . . . . because of its dominating poagea telecommunications giant” and that one
unredacted portion of thewtract provides that AT&T “contrald marketing . . . to drive user
engagement and traffic.”

The Complaint alleges that Synacor portrayed the delayed monetization of the portal as a
joint decision between Synacor and AT&T, whemeality, the companies “had conflicting

priorities and AT&T was calling the shotsDuring the 2Q 2017 second quarter earnings call on



Case 1:18-cv-02979-LGS Document 55 Filed 08/28/19 Page 7 of 22

August 9, 2017, Bhise informed investors that ‘ftiat AT&T Synacor team has decided to
prioritize engagement over monetization,'t bn March 15, 2018, Bhise stated, “AT&T has
chosen, at least for the near term, to priorii@esumer experience and engagement, and we are
collaboratively working with them in achieving this goal.”

3. Weaknesses in Internal Controls

The third category of misstatements or onmissiconcerns Synacor’s control weaknesses
over financial reporting. The Complaint alledleat the Individual Defedants were aware of
material weaknesses “that should have giveis&hnd Stuart pause” when they signed the
certifications that accompanied each of the#10-Q and 10-K that Synacor filed during the
class period. These certifioatis are required by Sarbanes-€xAct (“SOX”) Section 302 and
state:

The registrant’s other certifying officena | have disclosed, based on our most

recent evaluation of internal control ovardncial reporting . . . (a) All significant

deficiencies and material weaknesses éndésign or operatioof internal control

over financial reporting which are reambly likely to advesely affect the

registrant’s ability to record, processimmarize and report financial information;

and (b) Any fraud, whether or not matdyithat involves management or other

employees who have a significant rolghe registrant’s iternal control over

financial reporting.

The Complaint alleges that the Individual Defendants failed to disclose that “the
company’s internal control over financial refiog was materially deficient, causing the
company to be incapable of producing accufiancial statements.” On the March 15, 2018,
earnings call, Stuart disclosedhfeée material weaknesses” igracor’s internal controls over
financial reporting. On March6, 2018, Deloitte & Touche issuad adverse auditors’ opinion,

stating that Synacor had not maintained effeanternal control over fiancial reporting as of

December 31, 2017.
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E. Scienter

The Complaint alleges scienter based on imfees from the facts summarized above. In
addition, the Complaint relies on confidential withesses (“CW”).

STANDARD

To survive a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), “a complaint must contain sufficient
factual matter, accepted as trtee;state a claim to relief thag plausible on its face.”Ashcroft
v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotiBgll Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 570
(2007)). “A claim has facial plausibility whenetiplaintiff pleads factual content that allows the
court to draw the reasonable inference thatitifendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.”
Id. (citing Twombly,550 U.S. at 556). It is not enough foplaintiff to allege facts that are
consistent with liability; the complaint mustudge[]” claims “across the line from conceivable
to plausible.” Twombly,550 U.S. at 570. “To survive disssial, the plaintiff must provide the
grounds upon which his claim restsatigh factual allegations sufficietio raise a right to relief
above the speculative level. ATSI Commc’ns, Inc. ®haar Fund, Ltd.493 F.3d 87, 98 (2d
Cir. 2007) (quotingr'wombly,550 U.S. at 555). On a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, “all factual
allegations in the complaint are accepted asdngkall inferences are drawn in the plaintiff's
favor.” Apotex Inc. v. Acorda Therapeutics, 823 F.3d 51, 59 (2d Cir. 2016) (quoting
Littlejohn v. City of N.Y.795 F.3d 297, 306 (2d Cir. 2015)). “In adjudicating a motion to
dismiss, a court may consider only the conmjany written instrument attached to the
complaint as an exhibit, any statements or dantmincorporated in it by reference, and any
document upon which the complaint heavily relieBSARCO L.L.C. v. Goodwii56 F.3d 191,

198 (2d Cir. 2014) (quotintn re Thelen L.L.P.736 F.3d 213, 219 (2d Cir. 2013)).



Case 1:18-cv-02979-LGS Document 55 Filed 08/28/19 Page 9 of 22

Plaintiffs assert claimsndler § 10(b) of the Exchandet and its implementing rule,

Rule 10b-5. That rule makes it unlawful “[tjo makey untrue statement of a material fact or to
omit to state a material fact necessary in otdenake the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which they were madepmiskeading.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. To allege
a violation of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, “the cdaipt shall specify each statement alleged to
have been misleading, the reason or reagtysthe statement is misleading, and, if an
allegation regarding the statement or omissianasle on information and belief, the complaint
shall state with particularity all facts on whithat belief is formed.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u-
4(b)(1)(B). “[T]he plaintiff may recover mogadamages only on proof that the defendant acted
with a particular state of mind,g¢tcomplaint shall, with respect to each act or omission alleged
to violate this chapter, statativ particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the
defendant acted with threquired state of mind.1d. § 78u(b)(2)(A).

The six elements of a claim under § 10(b) Bute 10b-5 are: “(1) a material
misrepresentation or omission by the defetd@) scienter, (3) a connection between the
misrepresentation or omission and the purclasale of a secuy; (4) reliance upon the
misrepresentation or omission; (5paomic loss; and (6) loss causatioiitica P. John Fund,
Inc. v. Halliburton Co,.563 U.S. 804, 804 (20113¢cord Ind. Pub. Ret. Sys. v. SAIC, i8d.8
F.3d 85, 93 (2d Cir. 2016).

“Any complaint alleging securities fraudust satisfy the heightened pleading
requirements of the [Private Securities LitigatReform Act (“PSLRA”)] and Fed. R. Civ. P.
9(b) by stating with particularity éhcircumstances constituting fraudEmps. Ret. Sys. of Gov't
of the V.I. v. Blanford794 F.3d 297, 304 (2d Cir. 2015) (quotiBGA, Local 134 IBEW Joint

Pension Tr. of Chi. v. JP Morgan Chase (Gh3 F.3d 187, 196 (2d Cir. 2009)). “A securities
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fraud complaint based on misstatements myssécify the statements that the plaintiff
contends were fraudulent, (2) identify the speal@rstate where and when the statements were
made, and (4) explain why the statements were fraudul&tS3| 493 F.3d at 99. Allegations

of fraud may be “too speculatieven on a motion to dismiss,” particularly when premised on
“distorted inferences and speculationsld. at 104 (citing and quotin§egal v. Gordojd67

F.2d 602, 606, 608 (2d Cir. 1972)).

“The PSLRA expanded on the Rule 9(b) plegdstandard, requiring that securities fraud
complaints specify each misleading statement;ttiet set forth the facts on which [a] belief
that a statement is misleading was formed; andthiest state with partidarity facts giving rise
to a strong inference that the defendamtecaevith the required state of mindAnschutz Corp. v.
Merrill Lynch & Co, 690 F.3d 98, 108 (2d Cir. 2012) (internal quotation marks omitted)
(alteration in original).

The Complaint also asserts a claim under 8 26(#)e Exchange Act. To state a claim
under 8§ 20(a), the complaint must sufficiently plédd a primary violation by the controlled
person, (2) control of the primary violator byettefendant, and (3) that the defendant was, in
some meaningful sense, a culpable pigdict in the controlled person’s fraudCarpenters
Pension Tr. Fund of St. Louis v. Barclays P.|.Z&0 F.3d 227, 236 (2d Cir. 2014) (internal
guotation marks omitted). If the Complaint doesalt#ge a primary violation, then the § 20(a)
claim must be dismissed.

DISCUSSION

The Complaint alleges that Defendants’ misiegdtatements allowed Synacor to inflate
its share price for the company’s secondary afteriThe Complaint alleges that Synacor misled

investors about (1) the amount of projected nexeeSynacor could reasonably expect from its

10
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contract with AT&T, (2) theextent of AT&T’s control ovemonetizing theortal and (3)
weaknesses in Synacor’s internal controls ovaricial reporting. The Complaint fails to state a
claim as to any of these statements and omissiBrigcipally at issue on this motion is whether
the Complaint sufficiently pleads two of the glements of securities fraud -- a material
misrepresentation or assion, and scienter.

A. Section 10(b) Violation

1. Material Omissions and Misrepresentations

As noted above, the first element of a Rule B0belation is that the defendant made an
omission or misstatement of material fact. €¢8on] 10(b) and Rule 10B¢b) do not create an
affirmative duty to disclose any and all matendibrmation. Disclosure is required under these
provisions only when necessary to make . ateshents made, in the figof the circumstances
under which they were made, not misleadiniylatrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusan663 U.S.
27, 44 (2011) (internal quotation marks orajtéguoting Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-
5(b)); accord In re Vivendi, S.A. Sec. Liti§38 F.3d 223, 239 (2d Cir. 2016) (“Vivendi”).
“[O]nce a company speaks on an issue or toparetis a duty to tell thehole truth, even where
there is no existing independent duty to [dise information on the issue or topic¢/ivendj 838
F.3d at 258 (internal quotation marks omitted).

A statement or omission is material whbere is “a substantial likelihood that the
disclosure of the omitted fact would have begwed by the reasonable investor as having
significantly altered the total mix of information made available” to the maiB&W Local
Union No. 58 Pension Tr. Fund & Annufynd v. Royal Bank of Scot. Grp., PL{83 F.3d
383, 390 (2d Cir. 2015) (internal quotation markd aitations omitted). “To be ‘material’

within the meaning of 8§ 10(bjhe alleged misstatement must be sufficiently specific for an

11
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investor to reasonably rely on that statemerat ggarantee of some concrete fact or outcome
which, when it proves false or does not occur, forms the basis for a § 10(b) fraud clétiyrof
Pontiac Policemen’s & Firemen’s Ret. Sys. v. UBS 2862 F.3d 173, 185 (2d Cir. 2014).
a. Financial Projections

The Complaint does not adequately plead Befendants’ financlgrojections were
materially misleading. The statements areegition-actionable opinionatements or forward-
looking statements.

i. Opinion Statements

Statements of opinion may be actionable misstents if (1) “thespeaker did not hold
the belief she professed?) “if the supporting fact[s$he supplied were untrueYmnicare, Inc.
v. Laborers Dist. Council @nstr. Indus. Pension Fundi35 S. Ct. 1318, 1327 (2015), or (3) the
stated opinion, “though sincerely heldd otherwise true as a tt@a of fact, . . . omit[ted]
information whose omission majde] the [statedhimm] misleading to a reasonable investor,”
Tongue v. Sanof§16 F.3d 199, 210 (2d Cir. 201@)xcord In re Ferrellgas Partners, L.P., Sec.
Litig., No. 16 Civ. 7840, 2018 WL 2081859, at(®.D.N.Y. Mar. 30, 2018).

A plaintiff who alleges falsity based on ttierd ground “must idetify particular (and
material) facts going to the basis for the issuepimion -- facts about thequiry the issuer did
or did not conduct or the knowledgedid or did not have whose omission makes the opinion
statement at issue misleading to a reasornabteon reading the statement fairly and in
context.”” Tongue 816 F.3d at 209 (quotin@mnicare, 135 S. Ct. at 1332). “[M]eeting the
standard undedmnicare‘is no small task for an investor.’Id. (quotingOmnicare,135 S. Ct. at

1332). Reasonable investors are aware tphions sometimes rest on a weighing of

competing facts,” and they “do[ ] not expect teaéryfact known to amssuer supports its

12
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opinion statement.ld. (quotingOmnicare 135 S. Ct. at 1329.) Iresdd, investors “read[ ] each
statement. . . in light of all [the] surrounding texicluding hedges, disdhaers, and apparently
conflicting information,” and “take[ ] into accouthe customs and practices of the relevant
industry.” Id. (quotingOmnicare 135 S. Ct. at 1330). In generalierly optimistic statements
about corporate performance do not gige to securities violationdBEW Local Union No. 58
Pension Trust Fund & Annuity Fund83 F.3d at 392. “[T]o be achable, the representation
must be one of existing fact, and not merelyeapression of opinion, egptation or declaration
of intention.” In re Duane Reade Inc. Sec. Litityo. 02 Civ. 6478, 2003 WL 22801416, at *4
(S.D.N.Y. Nov. 25, 2003) (quotinGreenburg v. Chursg82 F. Supp. 2d 112, 121 (S.D.N.Y.
2003)),aff'd sub nomNadoff v. Duane Reade, IndQ7 Fed. App’x 250 (2d Cir. 2004).
Defendants’ following statements about fietwevenue growth and belief that the
Company was “on track” to achieits projected revenue goalse statements of opinion:

e “We anticipate that search activity and seamrenue will increase in the future due to
our three-year portal services contract with AT&T.”

e “[W]e continue to make excellent progrdssvard the launchrad deployment of the
AT&T portal . . . . We expect accelerated newe growth of about 30% this year, as we
continue to progress on oRath to 3/30/300.”

e “[W]e achieved important milestones this qeardn our path to 3/30/300,” referencing
the new ATT.net live portal.

e “[T]he site has the potential reach $100 million of revenue.”

e And “3/30/300 still remains our goal . . . &T still has the potential to be $100 million
opportunity.”

See Lasker v. New York State Elec. & Gas C8&F.3d 55, 58 (2d Cir. 1996) (Statements
“regarding future earnings, sales goals and [] desieehieve continued prosperity were just the
sort of predictive statements of opinion antidf¢hat courts havéound immaterial.”)accord

In re Aratana Therapeutics Inc. Sec. Liti§15 F. Supp. 3d 737, 758 (S.D.N.Y. 2018)

13
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(“Statements that express expectations abaufutture rather than psently existing, objective
facts are [] statements of opinion.”) (internal quotation marks omittedikfurt-Tr. Inv.
Luxemburg AG v. United Techs. Cqr@36 F. Supp. 3d 196, 227 (S.D.N.Y. 2018) (finding that
the statements “we still expect . . . high singlgidirowth;” “[we are] on the right track;” and
“operationally . . . things are moving along etham line with what we thought” are opinion
statements related to future earnings).

The Complaint does not allege any of the three types of facts necessary to make the
statements of opinion actionable. First, the Clampalleges in only a conclusory fashion that
the Individual Defendants did nbelieve their own statemerdbout Synacor’s future revenues
from the AT&T contract: “By virtue of their pagns at Synacor, the Individual Defendants had
actual knowledge of the materiafigise and misleading statementslanaterial omissions . . . .”
Without any facts to make this conclusion idle, the allegation #t Defendants did not
actually believe their financial pjections is insufficient.

Second, the Complaint does not challenge*#upporting facts” Diendants supplied in
support of the projections. To the contrarg @omplaint appears @mbrace, but distinguish,
the fact that Yahoo reportedly earned $100 millionygar from the AT&T contract, giving rise
to the inference that Synacor could do the same. The Complaint alleges that Defendants
disclosed that Synacor’s revermum®jections were based on thdueof AT&T’s prior contract
with Yahoo, and that financial analysts agréwat the “AT&T partnersip generated about $100
million in annual revenue for Yahoo.” The Complaint quot®gadl Street Journateport that
“AT&T is unwinding a 15-year panership with Yahoo . . . . The deal effectively moves a major

chunk of AT&T’s business awayom Yahoo [to Synacor].”

14
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Third, the Complaint could be construed liege that Defendants may have sincerely
believed their projections but omitted particular identified facts that were the basis for the
projections “whose omission makes [the profmts] misleading to a reasonable person reading
the statement fairly and in context.” The Cdanpt alleges that “the Individual Defendants
acted with reckless disregard foettruth in that they failed or figsed to ascertain and disclose
such facts as would reveal the materially falserarslieading nature of the statements made . . .”
But the allegations about the omitted facts are insufficient.

For example, the Complaint alleges that there was “no reasonable basis to assume” that
the Synacor contract would generate the seewenue as the Yahoo contract because the
Synacor contract was “a materially different cant [from AT&T’s contact with Yahoo]” and
Synacor’s portal “had no track record offeemance or customer receptivity” and any new
portal would result in “less customer trafficThe Complaint also cites two CWs -- the Director
of Product at Synacor from May 2016 to September 2016 and Vice President of Product &
Design from April 2014 to 2018 -- stating thatn@gor knew it would lose some users in the
transition from Yahoo to Synacor because $gnavas making “fundamental changes to the
platform” and “because with any new product laurychy lose a percentage of users.” But these
risks were not hidden, as Defendants made no safcited fact that Synacor had entered into its
own contract with AT&T and that anticipated similar revenués Yahoo'’s only after “we fully
deploy our products and migeaAT&T customers.”

The Complaint also alleges that Defenddaiied to disclose that AT&T controlled
monetization of the AT&Tportal. The Complaint allegdisat, although Synacattached the
AT&T contract to its Q2 2017 Form 10-Q, thigaghment omitted all ahe material terms

regarding monetization dlie portal. But the Complaint itself alleges facts showing that the

15
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public was aware of AT&T’s control over therpal: “AT&T effectively controlled monetization
of the portal because of its dominating powea &slecommunications giant. In fact, according
to one of the few readable portions of the cantrAT&T controlled marketing and would be the
one to develop the annual marketing plan to duser engagement and traffic, with input from
Synacor.” See Ashland Inc. v. Morgan Stanley & &b2 F.3d 333, 337-38 (2d Cir. 2011) (the
plaintiffs’ complaint failed to state a claiwhen an “SEC-mandated statement explicitly
disclosed the very liquidity risks about which [ipk#fs] claim to have been misled”). Even if
AT&T exercised control over monetization, and eifehat fact were hidden, the Complaint
does not plausibly explain how omission of tlastf“makes the opinion statement at issue [i.e.,
the revenue projections] misleadito a reasonable person readihe statement fairly and in
context.” Tongue 816 F.3d at 209.

The Complaint also alleges that Defendants failed to disclose weaknesses in internal
controls for financial repding. The Complaint, howevedentifies no connection between
weak internal controland the revenue projections. eltontrol weaknesses identified by
Defendants’ auditor related to the preparatiohisforical financial statements, not forecasts

related to the AT&T contract. The Complamakes clear that Defenaks based their revenue

2 This analysis also applies to the allegaticat efendants violateddin 303 of Regulation S-K
by not disclosing that AT&T controlled monedition of the portal and was focusing on user
engagement. Item 303 requires a registrantdclase “any known trends uncertainties that
have had or that the registrant reasonably &speill have a material favorable or unfavorable
impact on net sales or revenues or incoramfcontinuing operations.” 17 C.F.R. 8§
229.303(a)(3)(ii))Stadnick v. Vivint Solar, Inc861 F.3d 31, 39 (2d Cir. 2017). Omission of this
information is actionable under Section 10(b) ahbll the “requirements to sustain an action
under Sectioin 10(b) are fulfilled.Stratte-McClure v. Morgan Stanley76 F.3d 94, 100 (2d

Cir. 2015).
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projections on AT&T'’s prior contid with Yahoo and is silerats to how deficient internal
controls influenced revenue projections.
ii. Forward Looking Statements
Synacor’s revenue projectioase not actionable for the atidnal reason that they fall

within the scope of the PSLRA’s saferbar for forward-looking statement&eel5 U.S.C. §

78u-5(c).
The PSLRA provides that “a statement contagra projection of . . . income (including
income loss), earnings (including earnings lossspare, . . . or other financial items” and “a

statement of future economic performance, including any such statement contained in a
discussion and analysis ohéincial condition by the managent,” are forward-looking
statements. 15 U.S.C. § 78u-5(i)(1)(A) & (8ge also In re Ferrellgas Partners, L.P., Sec.
Litig., 2018 WL 2081859, at *12.

Defendants’ statements that they expecteddh&T contract to “bring in an additional
$100 million a year [after full deployment],” espted the company to “generate $30 million of
EBITDA” and achieve their “new long-terrmfancial target of $300 million in revenue,”
“anticipate[d] that search activity and search rexewill increase,” were “on track to deliver on
[the] target of $300 million in revenue,” “expged] accelerated revenue growth of about 30%”
and “remain[ed] on track with expected reveonfi®100 million per year after full deployment,”
and “remain[ed] well positioned to deliver on our target of $300 million in revenue and $30
million in adjusted EBITDA in 2019” are all forward looking statements as defined under the
PSLRA. See In re Ferrellgas Partners, L.P., Sec. LjtR)18 WL 2081859, at *12 (the
statement “‘we remain on track to deliver axdgd EBITDA in line with expectations’ fall[s]

within the PSLRA safe harborrfdorward-looking statements.”) re Austl. & N.Z. Banking
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Grp. Ltd. Sec. Litig.No. 08 Civ. 11278, 2009 WL 4823923, at *13 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 14, 2009)
(“[A] good-faith statement that [a company] was track’ to achievesome goal does not serve
as a guarantee that the goal will indeed béeaek”)). The words “anticipate” and “expect” are
common markers of forward looking statemerge Slayton v. Am. Exp. €804 F.3d 758, 769
(2d Cir. 2010%

“[A] defendant is not liable if (1) the favard-looking statement is identified and
accompanied by meaningful cautionary langu#gethe forward-looking statement is
immaterial, or (3) the plaintiff fails to provwbat the forward-looking atement was made with
actual knowledge that it was false or misleadiBgcause the safe harbor is written in the
disjunctive, a forward-looking statement is progectinder the safe harbibany of the three
prongs applies.Vivendi,838 F.3d at 245-46 (internal quotetimarks, modifications and
citation omitted).

Here, the safe harbor applies via the tiprdng. As discussed above, the Complaint does
not adequately plead that Defendants had akh@mkledge that the fimecial projections were
false or misleadingSee idat 247. Plaintiffs argue that Defendants must have known the
revenue projections were false and midieg because, by mid-2017, Defendants knew that

AT&T wanted to “prioritize engagement oveonetization.” The Compiat, however, alleges

3 Plaintiffs argue that the PSLR#safe harbor protections do ragply because the statements
encompass a representation of present factigmthe following statements: “Our continued
trajectory toward $300 million in revenue in thresays is reflected in the demonstrated progress
we are making against our 2016 strategic objectivess;are advancing infe with our plans . .

. with expected revenue of $100 million”; “weamain well positioned . . . and are on track to
deliver on our target of $300 million.” This argumiés misplaced because the cases cited in the
text above hold that nearly analogous languaderward-looking. To the extent these

allegations contain a representation of present iaetComplaint does allege that those facts are
false -- that Defendants were moaiking progress toward their 2016 strategic objections, or that
they were not advancing in line with their plans.
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no facts that suggest that prioritizing usegagement over monetization meant that Defendants
knew that that the projected revenues woukende realized, rathéhan delayed. The
Complaint quotes a statement from the Q2 201@iegs call in August 2017, that “at this time,
the joint AT&T Synacor team has decidedtritize engagement over monetization and we
now anticipate that much of thenmg up in revenue that we wesgpecting in the second half of
2017 would get delayed to 2018.” Similarly, the gditons that the CWs viewed the projections
as unrealistic are not tantamounttefendants’ knowledge that tpeojections were false. To
the contrary, CW2 allegedly stated that he “hessmahe pushback on [Bhise], but he always said
it could do better [than thmodest projections.]’
b. Weaknesses in Internal Controls

The Complaint alleges that the Defendants’ certifications pursuant to SOX Section 302
contained actionable false and misleading statésnabout Synacor’s internal controls.
Defendants’ SOX certifications stated, in pghdt, to the knowledgef the certifying party,
Synacor’s financial statements were accurate that Synacor had disclosed all significant
deficiencies in internal conti®over financial reporting,ral any fraud in connection with
financial reporting. These statements weresfaidight of the audits’ March 16, 2018, adverse
opinion on the Company’s internal control over finel reporting. However, any claim of fraud
based on these statements fails becausédh®laint does not plaibly plead scienter.

The PSLRA requires that a complaint alleging securities fraud “state with particularity
facts giving rise to a strong imnce that the defendant acteitbwthe required state of mind.”
15 U.S.C. § 78u—4(b)(2). Thist&te of mind” requires a shamg “of intent to deceive,
manipulate, or defraud, or recklessnedsihips.’ Ret. Sys. of Gov't of the Virgin Islands v.

Blanford 794 F.3d 297, 305 (2d Cir. 2015) (intergabtation marks and citations omitted);
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accord Schwab v. E*Trade Fin. Cor285 F. Supp. 3d 745, 755-56 (S.D.N.¥4ff;d, 752 F.
App’x 56 (2d Cir. 2018). “The scienter requirent is met where the pwplaint alleges facts
showing either: (1) a motive and opportunityctommit the fraud; or (2strong circumstantial
evidence of conscious misbehavior or recklessneBlnford 794 F.3d at 306 (citing TSI
Commc'ns, InG.493 F.3d at 99). Taking into accotiplausible opposing inferences,” the
inference of scienter must be “cogent antkast as compelling as any opposing inference one
could draw from the facts allegedTellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Lt651 U.S. 308,
323-24 (2007).

The Complaint does not sufficiently raiseiaference of scienter with respect to
Defendants’ SOX certifications. The auditors identified three material weaknesses: (1)
ineffective control environment due to a lawksufficient qualifiel personnel with an
appropriate level of knowledge aegperience; (2) ineffective cawot activities dueo the lack
of timeliness in executing business process ctmtand (3) ineffective monitoring controls to
ascertain whether tt@mponents of internal control were present and functioning. The
Complaint alleges that Bhise cut “fifty jobs . . . to trim costs” and that CW3, the Accounts
Payable Coordinator in the Finance Departiieom April 2014 to June 2017, stated that
“turnover was terrible” and “finasial oversight wapoor.” The allegations that Defendants
were aware that the Company was understaffieidacked personnel internal controls does
not raise an actionable inferertbat Defendants knew that the S@ettifications were false; an
equally plausible inference is tHaefendants believed that any a&fncies were not so acute as
to rise to the level of an internal control weakneSseTellabs, Inc.551 U.S. at 323-24in re
Veon Ltd. Sec. LitigNo. 15 Civ. 08672, 2018 WL 4168958, at *14 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 30, 2018)

(“Since the statements are preatied on the certifying officeriselief, and [p]laintiffs do not
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sufficiently allege that [defedant] believed the statementsrevéalse or misleading, the SOX
certification here isiot actionable.”)see alsd’lumbers & Pipefitters Nat. Pension Fund v.
Orthofix Int'l N.V, 89 F. Supp. 3d 602, 615 (S.D.N.Y. 2015) (“[P]laintiff cannot raise an
inference of fraudulent intent ®@d on the signing of a certificati without alleging any facts to
show a concomitant awareness of or recklesstoethe materially misleading nature of the
statements.”). Accordingly, the Complaint failgplead a claim as to the statements related to
weaknesses in internal controls.

B. Section 20(a) Violation

As the Court has granted Defendants’ Motto Dismiss Plaintis’ § 10(b) claim,
Defendants’ motion to dismiss tBection 20(a) claim is granted.

C. Leave to Replead

Plaintiffs request leave to replead any dissed claims. Leave to amend should be freely
given when justice so requires. Fed. R. Civi%a). “However, where the plaintiff is unable to
demonstrate that he would be able to antéadomplaint in a manner which would survive
dismissal, opportunity to reghd is rightfully denied."Hayden v. Cnty. of Nassali80 F.3d 42,
53 (2d Cir. 1999)accord Nypl v. JPMorgan Chase & C®o. 15 Civ. 9300, 2017 WL
1133446, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 24, 2017). Leaveitoend the Complaint also may be denied
where the plaintiff “fails to spéfy either to the district couxdr to the court of appeals how
amendment would cure the pleading deficiencies. Te¢hnoMarine SA v. Giftports, In@58
F.3d 493, 505 (2d Cir. 2014). The Court does not belikat the deficienes identified above
can be cured. Nevertheless, any applicatiotefave to replead shall be made as provided

below.
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ motion to dismiss is GRANTED.

Should Plaintiffs seek leave to replead, theglldile within 21 daysof this Order a red-
lined version of a proposed amended complaimbwing changes from the current Complaint,
together with a letter application, not to exctleee pages, explaining Wwahe legal deficiencies
identified in this Opinion have been curedo pre-motion conference nor any response is
necessary unless requested by the Court.

The Clerk of Court is respectfully directed to close the motion at Docket No. 50.

Dated: August 28, 2019
New York, New York
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